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The First Coconut Grove School House, a one-room structure
built of Dade County pine, was constructed in 1894. Although
it has undergone considerable restoration and reconstruction,
much of the original fabric remains. A comparison of the
present structure with an 1899 photograph on file at the
Historical Museum of Southern Florida supports the authenticity
of the reconstruction. According to Mr. Hollice Plotts who
supervised the reconstruction, photographs of the original
structure formed the basis for restoration work. In addition,
residents of Coconut Grove who attended classes in the school
house were consulted, and some of the reconstruction was
based on their recollections of the building as it appeared
originally. In some instances, evidence of the original
construction was found when the building was moved to its new
location on the grounds of the Plymouth Congregational Church
in 1969.

The property on which the school house was built was
sold to the Ryder Systems in 1969. The company donated the
structure to the church, and assumed the costs involved in
the transfer to the new location. Ryder Systems also provided
the equipment used in the move. At the time of transfer,
several wings and additions which had been made to the structure
were removed since they were not a part of the original. Re-
storation was begun early in 1970, and the building was dedlcat-
ed as a school house museum in 1971.

Of the original materials that remain are five full length
boards on the siding, siding above and below the windows, five
panes of window glass, and all heavy timbers (rafters, siding,
floor joists, undersiding, and sills.) The original wood that
was undamaged and usable was treated and incorporated into the
reconstruction. The bell above the entry is the original bell
that existed when the school was built in 1894. Original color
of white with buff trim on the exterior has been repeated on
the present structure. Roof covering of shake shingles is new,
but again, duplicates the original roof material.

Many of the interior app01ntments are original; e.g. a
bookcase which has been replaced in its original position; a
cast-iron stove which had been kept by one of the local re-
sidents; and the kerosene lamps. The desks and chairs were

hand made by Mr. Plotts and are replicas of the original furnish-

ings.

(CONT)

338

SNOILODONAYLSNI



INSTRUCTIONS

SEE

PERIOD (Check One or More as Appropriate)

[ Pre-Columbian! 7] 16th Century {T] 18th Century [C] 20th Century
{71 15th Century [J 17th Century gl 19th Century
SPECIFIC DATE(S) (If Applicable and Known) 1894
AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Check One or More as Appropriate)
Abor iginal X Education ] Political ] Urban Planning
[ Prehistoric . [C] Engineering [] Religion/Phi- X Other (Specity)
] Historic [ Industry losophy .&Lt.l.emﬁn.t_
] Agriculture ] !nvention [} Science
X Architecture {J Landscape [ Seulpture
O Art Architecture [] Social/Human-
{1 Commerce [ Literature itarian
{3 Communications 1 Military [J Theater
[} Conservation 1 Music [} Transportation

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The First Coconut Grove School House relates ‘directly to
the settlement of Coconut Grove and is the forerunner of the
Plymouth Congregational Church. This building, constructed
by the men of the community, served the religious and educa-
tional needs of the pioneers. It also served as a meeting
hall for the first women's club in the area, the Coconut- Grove
Housekeepers Club. This club, organized by Miss Flora
McFarlane in 1891, received national coverage in an 1892
issue of Harpers Bazar. The Housekeepers Club met in the
building from 1891 to 1894 when use of the school building
was then restricted "to’/School, Religious, or Literary pur-
poses and meetings." As the community grew, need for a larger
facility became apparent, and in 1894 the new school buildin
was constructed. It is this building, a one-room bungalow
style house of Dade County pine, that exists today as a museum
on the grounds of Plymouth Congregational Church. Before its
relocation to the present site, the school house was occupied
as a private residence after it was no longer used as an
educational facility. 1In 1902, it was sold by Charles Peacock
for $400, and it remained in the hands of the new owner until
1944 when it was again sold. The property was purchased by
Ryder Systems in 1969 for the sum of $75,000. The building
was subsequently donated to the Church by Ryder, was relocated
on the new site, and restored as a museum and reminder of the
efforts of Coconut Grove's pioneer residents.
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This structure, so closely associated to the development
of the Plymouth Congregational Church, rests on a portion of
the church property. The school house, although primarily a
museum, is occasionally utilized as a classroom by students
who attend the Plymouth Congregational School.

*Note

In restoration, roughly milled lumber was used for the
board and battens instead of the original material which had
been salvaged from shipwrecks. Thus the existing structure
is plumb and presents a slightly more unified appearance than
that of the original. All details closely approximate the
original even the belfry which admittedly would seem contrived
at first glance.
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